
Agenda - Enterprise and Business Committee
Meeting Venue:
Committee Room 4 - Tŷ Hywel
Meeting date: Thursday, 11 February 
2016
Meeting time: 09.00

For further information contact:
Gareth Price
Committee Clerk
0300 200 6565 
SeneddEcon@Assembly.Wales

Summary of the evidence on the Inquiry into the Priorities for the 
Future of Welsh Rail Infrastructure - Megan Jones (09.00-09.15)

Private pre-meeting (09.15-09.30)

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions
 

2 Inquiry into the priorities for Welsh Rail Infrastructure
(Pages 17 - 47) 

Attached Documents: 
Research Brief

2.1 Inquiry into the Priorities for the Future of Welsh Rail Infrastructure - Evidence 
from Transport Scotland 

(09.30-10.20) (Pages 48 - 56)
Aidan Grisewood, Director of Rail, Transport Scotland

Attached Documents: 
EBC(4)-05-16 (p.1) Evidence from Transport Scotland

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



Break (10.20-10.30)

2.2 Inquiry into the Priorities for the Future of Welsh Rail Infrastructure - Evidence 
from Network Rail 

(10.30-11.30) (Pages 57 - 69)
Paul McMahon, Route Managing Director – Wales, Network Rail
Tim James, Head of Strategy and Planning, Network Rail

Attached Documents: 
EBC(4)-05-16 (p.2) Evidence from Network Rail

2.3 Inquiry into the Priorities for the Future of Welsh Rail Infrastructure - Rail 
regulation and planning bodies 

(11.30-12.30) (Pages 70 - 85)
John Larkinson, Director of Economic Regulation and Consumers, Office of Rail 
and Road
Paul Plummer, Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group

Attached Documents: 
EBC(4)-05-16 (p.3) Evidence from the Office of Rail and Road
EBC(4)-05-16 (p.4) Evidence from the Rail Delivery Group

Break (12.30 - 13.30)

2.4 Inquiry into the Priorities for the Future of Welsh Rail Infrastructure - Evidence 
from UK Government 

(13.30-14.30)
Colin Poole, Regional Rail Strategy Manager, Department for Transport
Brian Etheridge, Director of Integrated Delivery, Department for Transport



3 Papers to note
 

3.1 Rail Freight Group Survey Results 2015
(Pages 86 - 91) 

Attached Documents: 
EBC(4)-05-16 (p.5) Additional information provided by the Rail Freight Group

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 
public from the remainder of the meeting and the beginning of 
the next meeting.

 

5 Discussion of the priorities for successor Committee
(14.30-14.40) (Pages 92 - 95) 

Attached Documents: 
Legacy report: priorities for the fifth Assembly

Private de-brief (14.40-14.50)



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Annex



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 17

Agenda Item 2



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru National Assembly for Wales 
Y Pwyllgor Menter a Busnes Enterprise and Business Committee
Ymchwiliad i’r Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer 
dyfodol Seilwaith y Rheilffyrdd yng 
Nghymru

Inquiry into the Priorities for the future 
of Welsh Rail Infrastructure

WRI 33 WRI 33
Transport Scotland Transport Scotland

Paper for the National Assembly for Wales' Enterprise and Business 
Committee meeting 11 February 2016 - Priorities for the future of Welsh Rail 
Infrastructure

Scotland’s railways - today

Published in March 2015, Scotland’s Economic Strategy sets out the Scottish 
Government’s plans to achieve a more productive, cohesive and fairer country. The 
strategy provides a plan for all of Scotland and focuses on four main themes – 
investment, innovation, inclusive growth and internationalisation.

Sustainable investment in our people, our assets and our infrastructure is identified 
as being vital to economic growth. Scotland’s railways are key to the prosperity and 
quality of life, linking our communities to each other, to employment opportunities, to 
industry, business and markets.  Our railway also enables Scots and their guests to 
enjoy Scotland’s rich, vibrant cultural heritage and tourist attractions. Against this 
backdrop, investing in Scotland’s railway infrastructure remains a key priority of the 
Scottish Government. 

Since rail powers were devolved 10 years ago, demand for rail travel has increased 
by 45% with around 93 million ScotRail passenger journeys last year. This growth 
has been supported by significant investment by the Scottish Government. 

Since 2007, over £6 billion has been committed to improvements in rail 
infrastructure and services, supporting new fleets of modern electric trains, new and 
improved services, the delivery of seventy-six kilometres of new railways, and the 
opening of 13 new stations. This includes 7 new stations that were introduced upon 
completion of the Borders Railway in September 2015 – the longest new domestic 
railway to be constructed in Britain for over 100 years.

The Borders Railway was the first major deliverable under a broader £5 billion 
programme of investment in Scotland’s railways that will deliver major improvements 
to infrastructure and services by 2019. Investment in new trains, new tracks and a 
transformative electrification programme that includes key remaining routes between 
Edinburgh and Glasgow, will deliver greater capacity, performance and journey times 
and help sustain the substantial growth in passenger numbers that is predicted.

Devolution – Railways law

Pack Page 48

Agenda Item 2.1



The Railways Act 2005 sets out the majority of the Scottish Ministers’ rail powers.  
Accordingly, Scottish Ministers assumed responsibility for a number of areas, 
including:

 Setting a strategy for Scotland’s railways, incorporating freight and passenger 
services.

 The role of franchising authority for Scottish Franchise Agreements.  This 
means specifying which services are to be provided under franchise, 
contracting for, managing and funding the provision of those services.  The 
manifestation of these powers is the ScotRail and Caledonian Sleeper 
franchises, the current versions of which came into operation in April this year.

 Specifying and funding outputs for Network Rail in the management (including 
performance) and enhancement of the infrastructure on the Scottish route.  

 Issuing non-binding Guidance to the Office of Rail and Road (ORR), which 
outlines the expectations of the Scottish Ministers’ on how the regulator will 
carry out their duties in Scotland.

Devolution – the powers in practice 

Devolution in Scotland goes far wider than the powers enabled through the 2005 Act:  
the consequence of the statutory changes has led to the devolution of a suite of 
‘working-level’ arrangements, which has enhanced the delivery of railways in 
Scotland:

 The creation of the Network Rail Scottish operating route, with an increasing 
degree of operational autonomy devolved over time.  This has brought about 
a number of benefits, in particular it has enabled a strengthening of local 
relationships and, in some areas, more coherent decision making process.  
This is most visible through the ScotRail Alliance - now unique in GB 
railways - which is bringing infrastructure management and service delivery 
together to deliver transformative change to the quality and provision of 
services by placing passengers’ needs at the centre.

 A much closer working relationship between Government, Network Rail, 
ScotRail and the ORR on delivery and performance issues in Scotland.

 Separate, enforceable outputs and funding settlement for Scotland through 
the ORR’s Periodic Review, supported by a distinct strategic planning 
process.

 As a consequence of Network Rail’s reclassification as a UK central 
government body in 2014, the Scottish Ministers have a formal role in a range 
of matters relating to Network Rail’s finances and governance as they affect 
the Scottish route, which is enabled by an MOU between the Scottish 
Ministers and the UK Department for Transport.  This includes senior 
appointments and business planning.  

Pack Page 49



 Aligned to the MOU is a separate debt limit to cover Network Rail’s borrowing 
requirements for Scotland for Control Period 5 (CP5), which provides 
safeguards around Scotland’s investment programme committed to 2019.

Funding mechanisms 

The Scottish Government is also the principal funder of all railway activities in 
Scotland. As well as the subsidy requirements for the ScotRail and Caledonian 
Sleeper franchises, Network Rail’s operation, maintenance, renewal and 
enhancement costs in Scotland have been met almost entirely by the Scottish 
Government since railway powers were devolved in 2005.

Network Rail is funded through direct network grant from the Scottish Government 
and from track access charges payable via the franchise contracts. All Fixed Track 
Access Charges (FTAC) for use of the infrastructure in Scotland, including those 
relevant to cross-border services, are funded by the Scottish Government. The 
balance of funding between grant and access charges varies by year in accordance 
with the ORR’s determination.

Managing growth on Scotland’s railways 

Identifying priorities

The Strategic Transport Projects Review (STPR), published in December 2008, 
sets out the Scottish Government's 29 transport investment priorities over the period 
to 2032.   The foundation of the STPR is the delivery of three strategic outcomes, 
identified in the original 2006 National Transport Strategy and reaffirmed in the 
January 2016 refresh, as those which will most effectively contribute towards 
sustainable economic growth:

 improving journey times and connections;

 to tackle the issues of climate change; and

 improving quality, accessibility and affordability.
 
Bringing rail investment to life – infrastructure and services

The STPR provides the basis for our rail infrastructure investment priorities.  This sits 
alongside the infrastructure capacity, capability and performance required to deliver 
the high quality services specified in the ScotRail and Caledonian Sleeper 
franchises. 

In the lead up to the renewal of the Scottish franchise agreement, the Scottish 
Ministers launched a public consultation - Rail 2014 - on a range of positions to 
inform decisions on their overall approach to rail strategy and investment.  This was 
underpinned by their vision for maximising the contribution of Scotland’s railways to 
sustainable economic growth and social cohesion:
 

Pack Page 50

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2006/12/04104414/0


“Our ambition is to have a railway that offers value for money, ensures that the 
railway industry acts in a coordinated, integrated manner, and, most importantly, has 
passenger interests at its heart”.

In order to achieve this, the following objectives were set and reflected in the detailed 
terms of the ScotRail and Caledonian Sleeper franchise contracts, both of which 
came into effect on 1st April 2015:

 To achieve sustainable value for money through improved efficiency.

 To improve alignment across the industry to increase effectiveness and 
reduce cost.

 To exploit the full potential of the network and maximize its utility and 
capacity.

 To manage effectively any changes during the franchise.

 To improve overall passenger satisfaction.

 To improve the environmental performance of the franchise.

 To improve accessibility to services and stations.

As outlined above, since 2007 Scottish Government investment in rail infrastructure 
has been at record levels. Key to ensuring a optimum return on that public 
investment has been a strategic partnership approach to planning and delivery, 
which embraces the full rail industry in Scotland and its users, with a clear 
recognition of the respective roles and responsibilities in realising our vision and 
objectives for Scotland’s railways:

 Scottish Ministers – exercising statutory duties in specifying infrastructure 
investments through the Scottish High Level Output Specification (HLOS) and 
the availability of public funds through the Statement of Funds Available 
(SoFA).

 Transport Scotland – coordinating the development of the Scottish HLOS and 
the SoFA, providing advice to Ministers on the suite of options for investment 
and their contribution to broader socio-economic aims.  Leads the Scottish 
Government engagement with the Scottish and GB rail industry and the ORR.

 Office of Rail and Road – through the periodic review process it sets, monitors 
and enforces the operational and financial outputs for Network Rail in 
Scotland to deliver the Scottish HLOS.  It also sets the track access charges 
and the overarching  regulatory incentive framework.   

 Network Rail in Scotland – coordinate the rail industry advice to the Scottish 
Ministers on the hierarchy of investments and provided technical advice to 
Transport Scotland on the optimum outputs to deliver priority outcomes.  Also 

Pack Page 51



responsible for the delivery of the full infrastructure programme, including 
major projects and the maintenance and renewal programme. 

 Wider rail industry, including the Rail Delivery Group (RDG), freight and train 
operating companies – working with Network Rail in Scotland as described 
above. 

Looking back – what’s been delivered 

Delivery of the investment programme 

Network Rail in Scotland and its partners have a good record in the delivery of major 
infrastructure projects.  For example:

 The £300m Airdrie to Bathgate project, delivered on time and on budget in 
2010.  This re-opened the Bathgate – Coatbridge line, which was closed in 
1956, joining the west of Scotland to Edinburgh via Glasgow Queen St.   The 
fully electrified line, with new stations, is bringing significant economic benefits 
through better links from the West Lothian region to the main cities of 
Glasgow and Edinburgh. 

 The £300m Borders Rail project with 30 miles of new track and seven new 
stations was delivered on time and within budget. Officially opened by Her 
Majesty the Queen on the 9th September 2015, the reinstated line – originally 
closed in 1969 – will deliver major economic and social development 
opportunities by providing a fast and efficient rail link connecting communities 
in the Scottish Borders and Midlothian to Edinburgh and beyond. 

 The Scottish Government is committed to a substantial rolling programme of 
electrification that will bring significant economic, social and environmental 
benefits. So far, the electrification programme has delivered the Airdrie to 
Bathgate railway (see above) the £12 million Paisley Canal electrification 
project (see below), the £80 million electrification of the Cumbernauld line and 
the £35 million electrification of the Rutherglen & Coatbridge (Whifflet) Line
 

 Of particular recognition is the Paisley Canal electrification project, which 
has vastly improved services between Glasgow and Paisley, one of the 
largest towns in the west of Scotland.  This project was the first delivered 
under a formal Alliance agreement between Network Rail and ScotRail.  As a 
consequence of that collaboration, this key enhancement was delivered 
almost three years ahead of the original plans and at less than half (£12m) 
the anticipated cost of £28m.

Railway performance 

Pack Page 52



The average delay incurred per train in Scotland run has fallen by around 18% since 
2007, while overall passenger satisfaction levels with ScotRail (including Sleeper) 
services have been consistently higher than the rest of the UK, averaging at around 
88%. 

Despite these general improvements since devolution, Scotland’s railways has faced 
significant challenges in delivering against its targets for train performance (PPM) 
which has also been mirrored across the rest of GB. Network Rail failed to meet its 
performance in Scotland for the end of Control Period 4 (2009-2014), falling 0.6% 
short of the 92% target, albeit that performance was hit by the unique challenges 
posed through hosting the Commonwealth Games.  This trend has continued in 
Control Period 5, with performance in 2014/15 1.5% below the 92% target.  
However, the Scottish performance figures are generally better than the rest of the 
GB network.  

The ORR recently reviewed this performance and concluded that Network Rail had 
not done everything “reasonably practicable” to meet its licence obligations with 
respect to performance levels.  Significant weaknesses in operational planning and 
timetable development were identified as a recurring problem which had contributed 
to lower levels of reliability.

Since 1 April 2015, underlying performance levels through the ScotRail Alliance have 
been better.  However, primarily as a consequence of recent severe weather events, 
Network Rail is unlikely to achieve their performance target of 92% for 2015-2016, 
although targets for the remaining years of CP5 are still expected to be met.

Looking forward – remainder of the CP5 programme 

There are a number of other on-going projects in CP5 which will be delivered by 
2019:

 The £742m Edinburgh to Glasgow Improvements Programme (EGIP).  
This major electrification programme will support improved train and 
passenger capacity, reduced journey times between the two cities, and 
reduced emissions within the corridor.

 The £170m Aberdeen to Inverness Rail Line Improvements Phase 1, 
delivering enhanced commuting services into and between both cities.

 
 Highland Main Line Rail Improvements Phase 2, supporting improved 

passenger and freight train services in both directions between Inverness and 
Perth extended to either Glasgow or Edinburgh.
 

Tomorrow’s railway – what lies beyond 2019

Pack Page 53



The rail challenges

In considering the priorities for investment beyond 2019, there are a number of 
challenges facing Scotland’s railways that have to be tackled:

 Sustaining growth in passenger demand through new and longer trains and 
improvements to the existing core infrastructure.

 Meeting the objectives set out in the STPR, in particular, improvements on rail 
lines in the north of Scotland. 

 Meeting passenger expectations on service level quality, performance and 
fares.

 Climate change and the challenges of maintaining a resilient railway during 
periods of severe weather.

 Increased demands on Edinburgh Waverley and Glasgow Central to support 
thriving ScotRail and cross-border services.

 Meeting local stakeholder aspirations across the country, particularly the 
demand for more investment in the existing network as well as new routes 
and stations.

 Rising industry costs, particularly for electrification projects.

 The long-term viability of rail freight in Scotland given the loss of core coal and 
steel markets.

The planning process 

Planning work for railway investment in Scotland is at an early stage.  A key factor 
will be the ScotRail Alliance, which should strengthen the collaboration across the 
Scottish industry through a much more cohesive, whole system approach to efficient 
investment for the benefit of passenger and freight services.  

The early signs are positive, with Network Rail’s recent publication of the Scotland 
Route Study for consultation (a Network Rail licence requirement and key part of the 
Long-Term Planning Process) looking to strike a balance between rolling stock 
solutions and infrastructure investment.  The table below outlines a working 
timetable for the process.      

Pack Page 54



Learning lessons

The process for producing the last Scottish HLOS and contributing to the ORR’s 
Periodic Review 13 (PR13) process was viewed broadly as a success.  However, a 
lessons learned exercise was undertaken in advance of the start of Periodic Review 
18.  The focus of improvements in the process will be in the following areas:

 Greater clarity on outputs at as early a stage as possible.

 The avoidance of duplication and returning to topics for discussions on a 
number of occasions.

 Putting ‘pen to paper’ on the next Scottish HLOS as early as possible. 

The financial challenges

As a consequence of their reclassification, and in particular the transfer of their debt 
to the UK Government balance sheet, the Scottish Government negotiated a £3.3bn 
loan limit with the Department for Transport for Network Rail to deliver the Scottish 
enhancement and renewal programme up until 2019.  While the costs of major 
projects, in particular electrification, has increased, the full programme is on track to 
be delivered within that budget.  Transport Scotland, working with ScotRail Alliance 
and the ORR, is monitoring this closely.  

Looking ahead beyond 2019, there are no guarantees that further borrowing, 
consistent with the current arrangements, will be available.  Therefore a requirement 
for more grant funding, at least for enhancement projects, appears possible.  This is 
within the context of increasingly tight overall budgets across the whole of the 
Scottish Government. 

Structural change

The Shaw report, which is considering the future financing and structure of Network 
Rail, is due to conclude in March.  The recently published Bowe review has, among 
other things, kick started a review of rail regulation.  

Pack Page 55



Taken together, it is inevitable that the rail industry will be subject to change in the 
coming period.  The question is therefore more about the extent of that change and 
what the industry structures will look like.  The Scottish Ministers have made clear 
their view that the rail industry in Scotland should be fully devolved, including  
Network Rail in Scotland, to enable greater whole system accountability to the 
Scottish Parliament and for the ScotRail Alliance to maximise its full potential 
through collaboration and tailored, localised solutions.  

Transport Scotland, on behalf of Ministers, is engaged with the UK Government in 
the deliberations on structural change and making representations on the various 
reviews underway.

Resourcing  

The Transport Scotland Rail Strategy and Funding team is responsible for producing 
the Scottish HLOS and coordinating Transport Scotland’s interaction with the 
periodic review as well as leading our considerations on structural reform.  The team 
consists of four permanent members of staff with technical and financial consultancy 
support available for critical pieces of work. 

The key skills required within the team are as follows: 

 Leadership - In particular in order to galvanise the Scottish industry behind the 
investment proposals and plans for structural change.
 

 Programme and Project Management - Given the breadth of the periodic 
review programme and the coordination of the HLOS inputs,  the ability to 
plan, monitor milestones and identify risks is key.

 Financial management - The ability to interpret rail finances and read these 
across to government budgets is of critical importance. 

 Stakeholder management.  The ability to build and maintain partnerships is 
key to a co-production approach to the Scottish HLOS. 

The team does not have any direct railway experience.  However, the availability of 
existing internal rail technical resource within Transport Scotland and the strengths 
of the partnerships built with the Scottish rail industry is sufficient to provide the 
necessary advice, challenge and assurance throughout the process.      

TRANSPORT SCOTLAND
JANUARY 2016

Pack Page 56



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru National Assembly for Wales  

Y Pwyllgor Menter a Busnes Enterprise and Business Committee 

Ymchwiliad i’r Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer 

dyfodol Seilwaith y Rheilffyrdd yng 

Nghymru 

Inquiry into the Priorities for the future 

of Welsh Rail Infrastructure 

WRI 35 WRI 35 

Network Rail Network Rail 

 

Pack Page 57

Agenda Item 2.2



 1 

Enterprise and Business Committee:  
Inquiry into priorities for the future of Welsh Rail Infrastructure 

Introduction 

Network Rail welcomes the opportunity to contribute to this Committee Inquiry. We feel the Inquiry is 
particularly timely in that it takes place as the railway industry and funders are shaping the priorities 
for the Initial Industry Plan for England and Wales in Control Period 6 (2019-2024). This is expected 
to be published around September 2016 and is a key step in the process that is currently anticipated 
to lead to High Level Output Specification (HLOSs) by governments in 2017 and, ultimately, the 
regulatory determination of funding and outputs for Control Period 6 in 2018. 

Our written evidence is focussed on three key areas which we believe the committee should consider 
as part of its deliberations: 

1. Devolution and the Wales Route 
2. Wales Route Study – Planning for the future 
3. Choices for Funders and the Initial Industry Plan for Control Period 6  

Background  

Network Rail operates, maintains and enhances Britain’s railway infrastructure. Our purpose is to 
generate outstanding value for customers and taxpayers. Our role is to provide a better railway for a 
better Britain. 

Following the reclassification of Network Rail as an arm’s-length public sector body in 2014, we 
continue to manage Britain’s railway infrastructure, operationally and commercially, within our 
regulatory frameworks. 

Our framework agreement with the Department for Transport sets out how we interact in terms of 
financial management and corporate governance. 

When Network Rail was formed in 2002 the railway was facing a number of challenges. Passenger 
numbers had been falling over previous decades, there were safety concerns and punctuality levels 
were falling well short of what passengers expect. 

Today more people travel by rail than at any point since the 1920s - when the rail network was around 
twice its current size. One consequence of this is that half of Europe’s most congested rail 
infrastructure is now found in Britain.  

We should celebrate the fact that more passengers than ever are now choosing to travel by rail; that 
we now boast one of the fastest growing networks in Europe and the second most intensively used.  

Moreover, it is remarkable that despite this unprecedented growth, our railway is now the safest and 
amongst the most efficient in Europe, and our punctuality levels are over ten percentage points higher 
than they were in 2002 

The graph below shows that Public Performance Measure (PPM) in Wales improved significantly from 
80% in 2002 to a level of 93%. The graph also shows that the number of trains has increased by over 
50% over the same timeframe. 

Pack Page 58



 2 

 

At the same time, a historic underfunding has meant that significant investment is required to upgrade 
the railway and ensure that it is fit for purpose in the twenty-first century and is able to accommodate 
the demands of passengers. 

In Wales, the rail renaissance has seen passenger journeys grow by 50% over the past decade and 
they continue to rise by around four % year on year. 

 

We have been responding to this growth in passenger numbers with the biggest investment in the 
Welsh railway since Victorian times. Our modernisation programme includes electrifying the railway, 
improving stations and installing modern signalling to help deliver improved reliability and the potential 
for more and faster journeys. 

We are also investing in technology to help us to improve the way we manage and maintain the 
railway. We’re developing new ways of inspecting the railway and adopting technologies so that we 
can ‘predict-and-prevent’ problems before they happen. 

Pack Page 59



 3 

Providing the capacity that is required to meet the unprecedented growth in demand; delivering ever 
higher levels punctuality and passenger satisfaction;  against a backdrop of reducing public subsidy – 
there can be no underestimating the scale of the challenge facing the rail industry in the years ahead.  

Our railway network is being transformed at a faster pace than has ever been achieved before and we 
are putting in place a clear strategy for delivering the huge growth that we expect in the future. Wales 
relies on rail - it helps create and sustain jobs, moves millions of people every year for work and for 
leisure, transports freight and connects our communities. The railway is essential for modern Wales. 

Working with our industry partners, with passengers and communities, with elected representatives 
and governments in Westminster and in Wales – Network Rail is determined to play our part in 
delivering a railway to meet Wales’ future needs.  

1. Devolution and the Wales Route 

The Wales Route was established in 2011 (from the London North Western and the Western Routes) 
as part of the devolution of responsibilities to Network Rail’s routes. The move was part of the 
company’s drive to increase its responsiveness at a local level and created a Wales route for the very 
first time in railway history. 

The route now employs almost 1400 employees across the country. Our teams, across a number of 
different business functions, are responsible for operating (including signalling), maintaining and 
renewing the railway. We also created an asset management team on the creation of the route and 
they work seamlessly with the delivery organisation to ensure we deliver a safe and reliable railway.  

The creation of the Wales route and the devolution within Network Rail has enabled us to make faster 
and better decisions as well as driving performance improvement for the benefit of our customers and 
ultimately passengers. It has also enabled us to react quickly to unforeseen events, such as the 
extreme weather that impacted on the Cambrian Line in January and February 2014.  

Despite the incredible levels of storm damage, we were able to re-open the line to Barmouth within six 
weeks. The line beyond Barmouth was then fully re-opened in early May, just three months after the 
second storm event in February. The £10m programme to repair the severe damage to the rail 
infrastructure and sea defences north of Barmouth was delivered two weeks ahead of schedule. The 
work involved removing 40 tonnes of debris and reinstating 6,000 pieces of 'rock armour' that form the 
sea protection. More than 1,000 sleepers, 2,500 tonnes of ballast and 1,400 metres of track were also 
installed to enable passenger trains to resume once more. 

Since 2011, an increasing devolution of responsibility to the 8 route businesses has brought us closer 
to the many stakeholders we rely on to run our business effectively, and those who rely on us: 
passengers, train operating companies and freight operating companies, our lineside neighbours, 
businesses, local authorities and of course in Wales, the Welsh Government. As is often the nature 
with devolution, the process is continuing.  Network Rail is currently strengthening accountability and 
resources to the routes to support better delivery for our customers, passengers and stakeholders. 

This continuing devolution will allow the Wales route to focus on the initiatives needed to deliver 
continued improved performance, while also allowing us to reduce costs. 

While the devolution process continues, there remain a number of activities that are best undertaken 
at a Britain-wide level in order to achieve economies of scale, promote best practice and to operate 
and develop the network in a way that takes into account connectivity across the geographical and 
route boundaries. We believe this helps ensure that the companies that run, or seek to run, trains on 
the British network are treated fairly when doing so. 

Pack Page 60



 4 

The new largely devolved structure, with a much smaller corporate centre, means that the railway will 
be better organised for further devolution of rail infrastructure powers from Westminster to Cardiff 
Bay. Indeed, we were supportive of this approach in the evidence we submitted to the Silk 
Commission. 

Although the statutory responsibility for rail infrastructure is reserved to UK Government, Network Rail 
recognises the importance of demonstrating accountability in Wales to the Welsh Government.  

We meet with the Minister for Economy, Science and Transport on a regular basis. Additionally, we 
meet Welsh Government officials at monthly project boards and planning meetings. We also host a 
quadrilateral meeting around preparations for Control Period 6. These meetings involve the Welsh 
Government, the Department for Transport, the Rail Delivery Group and Network Rail. 

We are also working very closely with the Welsh Government on their plans for the Welsh rail 
refranchising and their proposals for the South Wales Metro. Wherever possible we want to support 
ministers and elected representatives to help them to deliver the best possible outcomes for rail 
passengers in Wales. 

There are clearly opportunities for Wales to learn from the experience in Scotland, where rail 
infrastructure powers were devolved through the 2005 Transport Act. Indeed, the Committee will be 
aware that Scotland has its own Initial Industry Plan and High Level Output Specification, which is 
consistent with the responsibilities for strategy and funding that the Scottish Government has had 
since 2006. 

In response to the Committee’s request for information about the arrangements in Scotland we have 
set out an explanatory note in Annex 1. Additionally, we would be pleased to assist the committee 
with any queries that may arise during the inquiry, so that we can help inform the wider debate about 
the further devolution of railway powers for Wales in the future.  

2. Wales Route Study – Planning for the Future 

The Wales Route Study examines options to respond to the expected rise in passenger numbers and 
to build a bigger and better railway for Wales and the Welsh borders. The draft study, which we 
launched for consultation at the Senedd in March 2015, is now in the process of being finalised and 
will be published shortly. 

Network Rail is leading the development of the study on behalf of the railway industry and our 
funders. Above all, it is a collaborative and cross-industry piece of work that reflects the priorities of 
Network Rail, the train and freight operating companies and our funders, so that we can develop the 
best possible railway for rail passengers in Wales. In many ways, the main strength of the study is the 
quality and breadth of the evidence that has contributed to its development. 

It is one of a number of Route Studies that have been commissioned across the country, and it has 
been developed using a range of economic forecasting tools, demand analysis techniques and 
business case appraisals that are consistent. This approach will allow funders to compare the 
outcomes and options on a consistent basis, which is clearly important in the context of the national 
network.  

 

 

 

Pack Page 61



 5 

Some examples of how demand for rail could grow on key Welsh rail corridors follow: 

     

The Study sets out a long term strategy to cater for the rising demand on the railway in Wales 
predicted from 2019 onwards. The document outlines opportunities to meet this future demand, and 
presents choices for funders. These include a major redevelopment of Cardiff Central station and the 
modernisation of the railway across North Wales - including the electrification in North Wales. 

We believe it sets out a clear vision that responds to the much busier railway we will see in Wales 
over the next ten to thirty years, with targeted investment that will deliver faster, more frequent and 
more reliable journeys. The approach we have taken with regard to the consideration of new stations 
and new lines is set out in Annex 2. 

The benefits of further investment to meet growing demand will flow far beyond the rail network itself. 
The railway in Wales supports economic growth and creates jobs, reduces the environmental impact 
of the wider transport sector and helps to connect and regenerate communities. Wales relies on a 
safe and punctual railway and the study sets out proposals to meet future demand so the railway 
continues to make a positive difference to the economy, to the environment and to people’s everyday 
lives. 

The study seeks to deliver a railway that offers value to taxpayers and funders. It has been developed 
collaboratively with our partners and through a process of close engagement with the Department for 
Transport and the Welsh Government. 

3. Choices for Funder's and the Initial Industry Plan for Control Period 6  

The Welsh Route Study will help inform the Initial Industry Plan for England and Wales in Control 
Period 6, which will be published around September 2016. In turn, the Initial Industry Plan will inform 
the High Level Output Specification for England and Wales in Control Period 6, which is likely to be 
announced in summer 2017. 

The Initial Industry Plan for England and Wales will examine the key choices and options facing 
funders in specifying the future outputs of the railway and the level of funding required. The Wales 
Route Study will set out a number of ‘Choices for Funders’ for consideration in the Initial Industry 
Plan. These describe the interventions required for the railway to meet the growth in demand in 
Control Period 6 (2019-24). 

Many of the choices are focussed on enhancing the capacity or connectivity of the railway 
infrastructure as a precursor to operating more train services. There are other choices that primarily 
relate to the operation of longer trains or more frequent train services without the need for additional 
infrastructure - these could be delivered through the franchise process which we understand is being 
devolved to the Welsh Government. 

A number of choices also reflect the role that rail can play in connecting communities and supporting 
economic growth: by providing improved access to employment, educational facilities and other social 
infrastructure. These choices set out how connectivity might be improved by improving journey times 
and/or enhancing service frequencies. 

Pack Page 62



 6 

 
The Wales Route Study also considers how the growth in freight markets will be accommodated on 
the rail network in the future and what this means for the rail network in Wales. The ‘Choices for 
Funders’ that will be set out in the final version of the Welsh Route Study in early 2016 are as follows 
(in no particular order of priority): 
 

Choice Description Outputs 

1 More passenger capacity on Valley Lines – operating more 
frequent trains and/or longer trains 

More seats for 
passengers & more  
services 

2 Phased programme of enhancements on Valley Lines – 
linked to Metro 

More frequent services 
and faster journey times 

3 Upgrading Relief Lines between Cardiff and Severn Tunnel 
Junction to create a 4 track passenger railway 

More services and faster 
journey times 

4 Redevelopment of Cardiff Central Station to create a station 
fit for a capital city 

A better customer 
experience with more 
space and more services 

5 Continued programme of Level Crossing Closures Public safety and faster 
journey times 

6 Improved generalised journey times on Heart of Wales Line More services and faster 
journey times 

7 Selected train lengthening on Cardiff to Manchester services More seats for 
passengers 

8 Modernisation of the North Wales Coast Main Line More services and faster 
journey times 

9 Improved line speeds on the North Wales Coast Main Line Faster journey times 

10 Improved connectivity to Deeside More services with better 
connections between 
trains & buses 

11 Further programme of capacity improvements between 
Chester and Wrexham  

More services and faster 
journey times 

12 Improved line speeds between Wrexham and Bidston  Faster journey times 

13 Improved all day frequency on the Cambrian line More services 

14 Improved frequency in the Ebbw Vale line with connectivity 
to Newport and Abertillery 

More services to new 
destinations and new line 
opening 

These choices will need to be funded if they are to be taken forward to the next stages of project 
development (in the current Control Period 5) and then project delivery (in the next Control Period 6). 
This is an important point for the Committee to note as Network Rail is not currently funded to develop 
these enhancements – that is why we consistently refer to them as ‘Choices for Funders’. 

Some examples of the choices that require funding in the current Control Period 5 and the next 
Control Period 6 are the redevelopment of Cardiff Central Station and the modernisation of the North 
Wales Coast Main Line.  

We particularly welcomed the Committee’s report into Rugby World Cup Planning and the 
recommendation that Cardiff Central needs to be modernised in order to create a station that is fit for 
a modern capital city and the major events that increasingly take place in Cardiff.  

We also welcomed the North Wales Rail Summit on 12 November 2015 and the consensus that 
emerged that more should be done to improve connectivity between North Wales and Liverpool, 
Manchester and London.  

Pack Page 63



 7 

In both cases these important schemes will require funding from governments or other funders if they 
are to be taken forward – funding will be required now in Control Period 5 for further development 
work and funding will be then required in Control Period 6 for delivery.  

With preparations for Control Period 6 well underway, we have reached a critical moment in the 
funding cycle for the railway. Positive and timely decisions from funders will be needed if we are to 
maintain momentum on the delivery of the key enhancements that are needed to build a better 
railway for Wales 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 64



 8 

Annex 1 

CURRENT NETWORK RAIL FUNDING – SCOTLAND (JANUARY 2016) 

 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this note is to provide a brief overview of how Network Rail is currently funded to 

operate, maintain, renew and enhance the railway in Scotland. It describes how these arrangements 

work in conjunction with those for England & Wales and the allocation of financial risk. 

FUNDING PROCESS   

Network Rail is funded for five year periods, known as ‘control periods’. Control Period 5 started on 1 

April 2014 and is due to run until 31 March 2019. The funding for these five year periods is set as part 

of a process known as a ‘periodic review’.  

As part of the periodic review process Department for Transport and Transport Scotland set out, at a 

strategic level, what they would like the railway to achieve in the forthcoming control period and the 

funds available for delivery. These statements from Governments inform Network Rail’s Strategic 

Business Plan for the same period, which is reviewed by the independent regulator, the Office of Rail 

and Road (ORR). Toward the end of the periodic review process, ORR publishes a decision 

document, known as the ‘Final Determination’, which sets out the outputs (e.g. levels of train 

performance) to be delivered by Network Rail, the funding it will receive through access charges and 

grants, and the assumed level of expenditure to deliver these targets. Network Rail, however, has the 

flexibility to spend more or less money than assumed by ORR in order to deliver the outputs, and can 

also reallocate funding between expenditure categories (e.g. track renewals and signalling renewals) 

as it considers appropriate (subject to it being able to borrow more). 

The diagram below, based on ORR’s Final Determination, sets out how Network Rail’s  expenditure in 

Control Period 5 is split between England & Wales and Scotland. It shows that of the £38.3bn of 

expenditure determined for Control Period 5, £4bn related to Scotland (c. 10%).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 65



 9 

Source: National Audit Office short guide to Network Rail, page 14, July 2015. All values in 2012/13 

prices. 

NETWORK RAIL - SCOTLAND 

Network Rail is a single GB-wide company running a GB-wide railway network. However, it prepares 

two Strategic Business Plans, one for England & Wales and one for Scotland. ORR produces one 

Final Determination document, however, this contains separate output targets, funding assumptions 

and assumed level of expenditure for England & Wales and Scotland. Scotland is, therefore, different 

to parts of England & Wales in a number of ways: 

 Transport Scotland fund Network Rail’s activities and provides strategic direction, 

rather than Department for Transport. Although Department for Transport continues to be 

responsible for some areas (e.g. safety).  

 

 Most franchised passenger train services are specified by Transport Scotland, rather 

than Department for Transport.  

 

 The ORR sets separate output targets and could take enforcement action against Network 

Rail if it failed to deliver Scottish outputs, irrespective of performance in England & Wales.   

 

 Scotland has its own Regulatory Asset Base to which allowable enhancement and renewal 

expenditure is added for the purpose of calculating Network Rail’s funding requirements in 

Scotland.   

 

 Scotland has a separate borrowing limit from England & Wales which ultimately constrains 

the maximum level of expenditure in Scotland.  

 

However, because Network Rail is a single GB-wide company, Scotland is also the same as parts of 

England & Wales in many respects: 

 Its activities are ultimately overseen by the Network Rail Board. At present there is an 

Alliance between Abellio ScotRail and the Network Rail Scotland Route. This means that 

whilst remaining separate companies, both organisations will work to achieve common aims 

and objectives led by a single managing director and senior management team. 

 Its income, expenditure, assets and liabilities form part of Network Rail’s GB-wide 

Income Statement and Balance Sheet. Network Rail does, however, produce Regulatory 

Accounts which include analysis for each of its operating routes, including Scotland1.    

 

 Activities in Scotland must comply with the conditions of Network Rail’s GB-wide 

Network Licence, including a limit on the maximum level of debt the company as a whole is 

allowed to incur relative to the value of its Regulatory Asset Base. 

 

 Network Rail is the Network System Operator and the same processes govern timetabling 

and providing access to the network in Scotland as the rest of GB.  

                                                 
1
 Network Rail’s Regulatory Accounts are available here. Information in relation to Scotland is set out on pages 212-292. Information in 

relation to Wales is set out on pages 669-729.  

Pack Page 66

http://www.networkrail.co.uk/browse%20documents/regulatory%20documents/regulatory%20compliance%20and%20reporting/regulatory%20accounts/nril%20regulatory%20financial%20statements%20for%20the%20year%20ended%2031%20march%202015.pdf


 10 

 

 There is a GB-wide methodology for charging train operators for use of the network. 

 
  

RECLASSIFICATION AND FINANCIAL RISK 

Prior to Network Rail being reclassified as a public sector organisation it funded its activities through 

track access charge income from train operators, grant income received from Department for 

Transport and Transport Scotland, income from other sources (e.g. its property assets) and debt 

which it borrowed as a single company from the capital markets. Although Network Rail raised debt in 

its own name, this debt was underwritten by the UK Government who ultimately bears the financial 

risk. As noted above, the maximum level of debt that the company could incur, relative to the value of 

its Regulatory Asset Base, is set out in its Network Licence. This limit is GB-wide and does not 

distinguish between England & Wales and Scotland.  

Following its reclassification to the public sector in September 2014, Network Rail now only borrows 

money direct from the UK Government and does not issue debt in its own name. On 4 July 2014 

Department for Transport and Network Rail signed a £30.3bn loan facility to cover Network Rail’s 

financing requirements for Control Period 5. When Network Rail was reclassified Scottish Ministers 

and Department for Transport also entered into a Memorandum of Understanding regarding how the 

£30.3bn borrowing limit should be split between England & Wales and Scotland. Network Rail is not 

able to exceed this borrowing limit even if it has not reached the maximum debt to Regulatory Asset 

Base limit specified in its Network Licence.   

The separate debt limits for England & Wales and Scotland set out in the Memorandum of 

Understanding mean that although the UK Government continues to ultimately bear the financial risk, 

debt funded expenditure is Scotland is ring-fenced from that in England & Wales. Therefore, any 

overspend in England & Wales cannot be financed using the proportion of the loan facility allocated to 

Scotland and vice versa.  

SUMMARY 

In summary: 

 Network Rail is a single GB-wide company running a GB-wide railway network.  

 

 However, it has two funders (Department for Transport and Transport Scotland) which provide 

strategic direction in England & Wales and Scotland respectively. 

 

 Network Rail produces two Strategic Business Plans and ORR determines separate output 

targets, funding assumptions and assumed expenditure for England & Wales and Scotland.  

 

 The UK Government underwrites all of Network Rail’s debt and ultimately bears the financial 

risk associated with this.  

 

 

 

Pack Page 67



 11 

RAIL INDUSTRY INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

The diagram below sets out the flow of funds in the GB rail industry during 2013/14, the latest year for 

which the information is available. It includes Network Rail, train operators, Governments and 

passengers. The diagram is based on ORR analysis of financial information provided by Network Rail, 

train operators and Governments.  

 

Source: 

ORR GB 

rail industry 

financial 

information 

2013/14, 

published 

February 

2015.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 68



 12 

Annex 2 

Welsh Route Study - Approach to New Stations and to New Lines 

New Stations 

The Welsh Route Study has not specifically considered demand for new stations on the network as 
these schemes are promoted by funders and third parties who are best placed to assess these 
requirements. This approach is consistent with the other Route Studies across GB. 
 
Network Rail does provide guidance for funders and third parties about developing and delivering new 
station schemes and we are proud of the achievements in Wales.  
 
Where new station aspirations are known, the Welsh Route Study does take a view on how these 
might accord with the longer term strategy and what impact, if any, they may have on future network 
capacity. 
 
 
New Lines 
 
The Welsh Route Study does not specifically consider new lines unless they are a potential solution to 
accommodate known future demand or are already being considered as a potential intervention. This 
is consistent with the other Route Studies across GB. 
 
The starting point for the Welsh Route Study is to assess how the use of the existing network capacity 
can be optimised as this offers best value for money. 
 
Nevertheless, the Route Study sets out a Choice for Funders for reopening the branch line to 
Abertillery as this is already under investigation in partnership with our funders and there is strategic 
fit with committed and other potential enhancements on the Ebbw Vale line.  
 
There will be reference to the Aberystwyth to Carmarthen railway in the Stakeholder Aspirations 
section of the final Route Study and, at this point in time, Network Rail is supporting work being 
carried out by the Welsh Government to assess the feasibility of this. 
 

Pack Page 69



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru National Assembly for Wales  

Y Pwyllgor Menter a Busnes Enterprise and Business Committee 

Ymchwiliad i’r Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer 

dyfodol Seilwaith y Rheilffyrdd yng 

Nghymru 

Inquiry into the Priorities for the future 

of Welsh Rail Infrastructure 

WRI 34 WRI 34 

Swyddfa Rheilffyrdd a Ffyrdd Office of Rail and Road 

 

Pack Page 70

Agenda Item 2.3



 

1 

 

 

 

Dear Mr. Graham, 

1. Thank you for the request for a written submission of our views on the issues you raised in 
advance of the meeting of the Enterprise and Business Committee on 11 February 2016.  

2. I have provided below our response to these issues and I am looking forward to appearing 
before the committee. 

Background 

3. The Office of Rail and Road (ORR) is the independent regulator of the railways for Great 
Britain. We regulate the rail industry's health and safety performance, we hold Network Rail to 
account and we ensure fair access to the network for train operators. More broadly we protect 
consumer interests through our responsibilities for enforcing consumer law and train operator 
licences (which include conditions such as one to provide passengers with good information 
during disruption). We also monitor the performance of the strategic road network in 
England.1 

Responses to specific questions: 

The periodic review process and preparations for CP6, particularly how Welsh interests 
are reflected in this 

4. We wrote (Annex 1) to the Welsh Government in December 2014, setting out our views on 
how we could assist the Welsh Government in the development of our Periodic Review 2018 
(PR18). PR18 is the next review of Network Rail’s outputs and funding for control period 6, 

                                            

1
 Full details of our role can be found here: http://orr.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/18909/what-we-

do-infographic.pdf 

John Larkinson 
Director, Economic Regulation and Consumers 

 
Telephone: (020) 7282 2193 
E-mail: john.larkinson@orr.gsi.gov.uk  
 

20th January 2016 
 
 
William Graham AM  
Chair of Enterprise and Business Committee 
National Assembly for Wales  
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 
CF99 1NA 

 

Pack Page 71

http://orr.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/18909/what-we-do-infographic.pdf
http://orr.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/18909/what-we-do-infographic.pdf
mailto:john.larkinson@orr.gsi.gov.uk


 

2 

 

covering the period from 2019. We have met with officials since then to help ensure the 
interests of Welsh passengers, freight customers and taxpayers are taken into account.  

5. To date we have particularly engaged with stakeholders on: 

 ‘System operation’2; which covers, for example, how the network is planned and 
services are timetabled. We are seeking to improve Network Rail’s capability to make 
better use of the current network (e.g. by improving timetabling capability) and 
considering what changes might improve long-term planning. 

 Structure of charges3, which covers the charges train operators pay to use the 
network. This work is looking for ways to improve the detailed understanding of costs 
and at whether charges could better reflect infrastructure costs. This would improve 
the information available to funders and the incentives faced by those using the 
network to, in turn, improve efficiency. 

 The performance and engineering possessions regimes4, which covers the payments 
made between operators and Network Rail when trains are delayed and the financial 
regime around engineering works.  Here we are seeking views on the effectiveness of 
the current regimes and what the priority areas for improvement should be. 

6. This preparatory work has allowed us to explore a number of important issues ahead of 
the formal start of PR18. We will shortly be publishing a document to start the formal PR18 
process, drawing on this material and other discussions with stakeholders – this is currently 
planned for April 2016. This will set out options for how the review process could work, our 
proposed objectives and priorities for the review, and how we will engage with all 
stakeholders, across all aspects of the review.  

7. We would welcome responses from the Welsh Government, Assembly Members and 
other stakeholders in Wales to this consultation, and we will be holding specific meetings with 
stakeholders in Wales to get views.  

8. As part of the work on the structure of charges, Network Rail is carrying out a major piece 
of work to improve the understanding what causes costs to be incurred at a detailed 
geographical level. This is taking the form of a pilot study in Wales, exploring how the total 
cost of the Wales route can be allocated to the users of the infrastructure. The analysis is 
looking at issues including: the level of geographic disaggregation of costs; the relationship 
between costs and traffic on the network; and how costs might be allocated to different users 
of the network, e.g. between freight and passenger operators.  The performance of Network 
Rail, both in Wales and nationally 

                                            

2
 More information is available at: http://orr.gov.uk/consultations/closed-consultations/pr18-

consultations/system-operation-consultation 
3
 More information is available at: http://orr.gov.uk/consultations/open-consultations/network-charges-a-

consultation-on-how-charges-can-improve-efficiency 
4
 More information is available at: http://orr.gov.uk/consultations/open-consultations/stakeholder-

engagement-on-schedules-4-and-8 

Pack Page 72



 

3 

 

9. In our letter we proposed to increase the information publicly available about the Wales 
route in our Network Rail Monitor, which we have now done5.  This is also available in Welsh. 
The work builds on our increased focus on Network Rail’s routes, a process that we started in 
Wales and which now forms an integral part of our scrutiny of Network Rail across Great 
Britain. 

10. We will shortly be reviewing the latest performance with Network Rail as part of our  
process of regulatory engagement on issues in Wales. We will brief Welsh Government 
officials on our views and discuss this with them.  

The role of ORR, including details of any future plans to change the regulatory regime for 
rail 

11. In summer 2015, The Secretary of State for Transport commissioned Dame Collette Bowe 
to review the ‘Planning of Network Rail’s Enhancements Programme 2014-2019’[1].  
Concurrently, the Chancellor of the Exchequer and Secretary of State for Transport jointly 
commissioned Nicola Shaw to review the ‘Future Shape and Financing of Network Rail’[2].   

12. The Secretary of State for Transport’s response to the Bowe review, on 25th November 
2015, announced that the role and responsibilities of the ORR will be fundamentally reviewed 
and the Department has since issued a call for evidence on the regulatory regime for the 
railways[3]. With the changes to Network Rail’s ownership and finances since it has been 
reclassified as a public sector company, we agree that a review is appropriate. We are 
engaging actively with the Department on this work, alongside the Shaw review, which will 
shape the future of our railways.  Both projects are due to complete by March 2016.  

13. We have already provided a written submission to the Shaw review which emphasised our 
role in economic regulation in terms of: 

 We ensure current users and funders of the network are not disadvantaged by the 
monopoly power of Network Rail. 

 

 We ensure access to the network is on a fair basis.  
 

 We protect the interests of future users and funders in an industry of long-lived assets. 

 

                                            

5
 This is available at page 39    http://orr.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/19925/network-rail-monitor-

2015-16-q1-2.pdf.  Welsh Language version from page 43. 
[1]

 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479560/bowe-review.pdf  
[2]

 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/476944/the-future-shape-
and-financing-of-network-rail-the-scope.pdf  

[3]
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/bowe-review-into-the-planning-of-network-rails-

enhancements-programme-2014-to-2019-government-response and 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/484028/rail-regulation-
call-for-evidence.pdf 

Pack Page 73

http://orr.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/19925/network-rail-monitor-2015-16-q1-2.pdf
http://orr.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/19925/network-rail-monitor-2015-16-q1-2.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479560/bowe-review.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/476944/the-future-shape-and-financing-of-network-rail-the-scope.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/476944/the-future-shape-and-financing-of-network-rail-the-scope.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/bowe-review-into-the-planning-of-network-rails-enhancements-programme-2014-to-2019-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/bowe-review-into-the-planning-of-network-rails-enhancements-programme-2014-to-2019-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/484028/rail-regulation-call-for-evidence.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/484028/rail-regulation-call-for-evidence.pdf


 

4 

 

Any lessons learnt from the experience of Scotland in terms of devolved responsibility 
for funding Network Rail, including the Scottish HLOS process 

14. ORR is neutral on matters of devolution, as it is a matter for the governments. However, 
we do recognise the opportunity that the greater involvement of local interests and local 
funders can play in improving outcomes. We support the greater devolution of responsibility 
to Network Rail’s routes that the company has progressed, and we believe this will improve 
services to passengers and freight customers and our ability to hold Network Rail to account. 
In this way, political devolution and an increasing focus on Network Rail’s routes could 
support each other. 

15.  There are different ways of achieving greater devolution to Wales. In the case of 
Scotland, the role of the Scottish Ministers is written into legislation. We have not been party 
to discussions about possible devolution models in Wales. 

16. That said, some lessons from devolution in Scotland are relevant. 

17. First, is the importance of good data, good understanding of that data and good analysis 
of it to inform decisions. The position now in terms of Network Rail data is that Network Rail 
has worked hard to improve the range of data available in Wales. Its formal regulatory 
accounts provide detailed data on its income and expenditure in Wales. For example, 
Network Rail’s expenditure on renewals is broken down by asset type e.g. track and 
signalling. So the starting position is much better than it would have been some years ago.  

18. A second lesson is that, depending on the scale of the change involved, processes can 
take some time to implement because of the need to engage with all parties as early as 
possible on options, and to agree technical issues.  

The potential implications for Wales if responsibility for funding the Network 
Rail Wales Route were to be devolved 

19. There are a number of different options available for devolving further responsibility for 
funding the Network Rail Wales route to the Welsh Government. Some of these can be 
achieved within the current legal framework while some options may require legislative 
change. These are political decisions.  The implications depend on the model chosen.  

20.   The timing of any decision would affect the extent to which it could be incorporated into 
PR18. But the scope of PR18 would in turn affect the extent to which greater devolved 
funding was an issue. If, for example, there was a shift to decide on more enhancements 
outside the periodic review process (as already happens with projects funded under the ORR 
investment framework), this would offer a different way of implementing devolved decision 
making.  

21.  More generally, specific issues could include:  

(i) treatment of risk and uncertainty – i.e. what happens if Network Rail were to 
overspend in Wales;  

Pack Page 74



 

5 

 

(ii) allocation to Wales of a share of Network Rail’s assets (and debt6) and the 
obligation to fund the debt;  

(iii) disaggregation of outputs.  Outputs include the ‘targets’ the funders set for 
Network Rail to achieve, such as on train punctuality; and 

(iv) relationship to the overall borrowing limit set for Network Rail as part of its 
reclassification. Currently there is an GB wide limit and a separate limit for 
Scotland. 

22. The ORR, as an independent regulator, can play an important role here, ensuring that 
there is objective analysis of the issues. 

23. I look forward to answering any questions the committee may have on 11 February. 

 

Yours Sincerely, 

 

John Larkinson 

                                            

6
 Although Network Rail finances itself (i.e. borrows money) as one company we allocate its debt between 

England & Wales and Scotland as responsibility for funding that debt is allocated between the two 
governments.    

Pack Page 75



 

6 

 

Annex 1 – Letter from ORR to Welsh Government 9 December 2014 
 

 
 

John Larkinson 
Director, Economic Regulation 

 

Telephone: 0207 282 2193 
E-mail:  john.larkinson@orr.gsi.gov.uk 

 

9 December 2014 
 

Bayo Dosunmu 
Department for Economy, Science and Transport 
Welsh 
Government 
Cathays Park 
Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Dear Bayo, 
 

1.       This letter is to record the meeting we had on Thursday 20 November. The 
meeting was a follow up to the exchange of letters between your Minister Edwina Hart 
and Anna Walker, our Chair. 

 

2.       We covered three areas where we said we wanted to increase our advice and 
assurance to the Welsh Government. 

 

3.      The first area covers the Welsh Government’s medium term goal of increased 
devolution for Wales, which includes a better understanding of specifying outputs and 
funder responsibilities in the next periodic review (PR18). 

 
4.       As an independent regulator we are neutral on political questions 
around 
devolution. We have experience of working with the Scottish Government as it took on 
that role. We are clear that you will need to do a substantial amount of preparation to 
fulfil the role – or even a more limited version of the role – and we can help in this. 

 
5.       Our experience of working with the Scottish Government is that it is important 
that the Welsh  Government  is  fully included  in our  PR18  development  process.  
This  will include: 

 

 the Welsh Government playing a core part in the process for developing 
PR18 outputs. This process covers passenger priorities, which outputs should be 
set and their levels. (We will start by discussing with you our current plans. Our 
expectation is that we will publish our first PR18 consultation document in Q1 

Pack Page 76

mailto:john.larkinson@orr.gsi.gov.uk


 

7 

 

2016 but in the meantime  we  can  discuss  the  preparatory  work  necessary  
for  defining  and specifying outputs); 

 explaining what the options are for a wider and more specific financial role in 
PR18 and how this might work in practice; and 

 

 (recognising that there are wider impacts of being a specifier of outputs and a 
funder) ensure that the Welsh Government is closely involved in other parts of the 
development of PR18, such as the development of the performance regime which 
affects  Network  Rail  and  the  ATW  franchise,  and  how  Network  Rail  will  be 
financed. 

6.       The second area reflects your current concerns around Network Rail. 
 

7.       Network Rail has put considerable effort into improving its relationship with the 
Welsh Government and we believe the company strongly recognises the Welsh 
Government’s role, at both the official and political level. But you still have concerns 
particularly around transparency (what information you receive from Network Rail and us) 
and the Welsh Government’s ability to influence the company and be fully treated as a 
client. 

 

8.       We recognise your concerns and the position of the Welsh Government but we 
noted that formally the Welsh Government’s position is not currently the same as 
Scotland’s and hence it does not have the same role. However, I said that the ORR 
wanted to provide you with increased assurance and that we would do this by: 

 

 setting up a formal regular review meeting (possibly bi-annual in advance of our 
Network  Rail  Monitor  publications  in  June  and  November)  when  we  take  you 
through  our  assessment  of  the  company’s  progress  on  safety,  performance, 
finance, projects and asset management. This will give you the opportunity to feed 
in your views and challenge; 

 setting out the financial and operational information we collate on the Wales route 
and discussing with you how that information can be interpreted and used1; and 

 discussing with you how we can expand our public reporting on Wales by making 
changes to our six monthly Network Rail monitor (which is currently structured in 
terms of ‘England & Wales’ and ‘Scotland’ documents). 

9.       I also said that you should see us as being available to work with you on immediate 
questions or issues you have with Network Rail‘s performance. We think that improving 
transparency in this area is very important in helping the Welsh Government prepare for a 
possible future role that involves specifying outputs and being a funder in the next periodic 
review (PR18). 

 

10.      The  third  area  is  the  Welsh   Government’s  funding  of  enhancement  and 
modernisation projects. This area is more detailed but basically the issues are around the 

 

 

 

Pack Page 77



 

8  

 

 

terms of the contracts that Network Rail will sign up to and whether efficient 
delivery can be secured. I said that Network Rail did have legitimate requirements in 
some areas – for example that the new asset that your contractors have built is 
compliant with railway standards and that your contactors have entered into 
appropriate agreements to work on the railway – safety is the priority. You said that 
you would write to me setting out your concerns more fully. On the basis of our 
discussion we plan to follow them up by: 

 

 challenging  the  Network  Rail  contracts  team  in  London  on  why  they  
will  not negotiate a bespoke contract with you, instead of imposing the 
template contracts; 

 working with you and Network Rail on how contingencies could be 
structured to give you more influence over their drawdown; and 

 carrying out efficient cost reviews of the Welsh Government’s projects with 
Network Rail. This is not normally something we do on third party cash funded 
contracts, but we recognise your concerns and the Welsh Government’s 
position and think that publication of these reviews would be a strong driver of 
efficient delivery. 

11.     Could you also supply us with details of the cost of the projects that 
you are delivering, such as Pye Corner, so we can use this information to help 
benchmark Network Rail’s costs. We will contact you about how the data should be 
provided. 

 

12.     I hope you will agree these changes will, taken together, represent a 
significant step forward in our support to you and will mean you will get more value 
out of your relationship with Network Rail. 

 
 

 
Yours 
Sincerely, 

 

 
 

John 
Larkinson 

 

 

 

Pack Page 78



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru National Assembly for Wales  

Y Pwyllgor Menter a Busnes Enterprise and Business Committee 

Ymchwiliad i’r Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer 

dyfodol Seilwaith y Rheilffyrdd yng 

Nghymru 

Inquiry into the Priorities for the future 

of Welsh Rail Infrastructure 

WRI 31 WRI 31 

Rail Delivery Group Rail Delivery Group 

 

Pack Page 79



 Page 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Rail Delivery Group  
 

 
 

Response to: 
 
 
 

Enterprise and Business Committee  
 

Inquiry into the Priorities for the future of Welsh Rail Infrastructure 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

January 2016 
  

Pack Page 80



 Page 2 

Rail Delivery Group Response to the National Assembly for Wales’ Enterprise 
and Business Committee Inquiry into the Priorities for the future of Welsh 

Rail Infrastructure 

 

 
 

Background 
 
The Enterprise and Business Committee is seeking evidence on a number of key issues to 
define the strategic and institutional context for the provision of rail infrastructure in Wales.  
The Rail Delivery Group is pleased to have been asked to submit written and oral evidence to 
the Committee. 
 
The Rail Delivery Group 
 
The Rail Delivery Group (RDG) was established in May 2011 to lead the industry in delivering 
a higher-performing, more cost-effective and sustainable rail network for Britain’s rail users 
and taxpayers. 
 
The RDG brings together the chief executives of passenger and freight operator owning 
groups with Network Rail.  The RDG develops policies, strategies and plans for the coherent 
management of the rail industry, and advances the provision of safe, efficient, high-quality 
rail services. 
 
The RDG’s mission is to promote greater co-operation between train operators (passenger 
and freight) and Network Rail through leadership in the industry and by working together with 
Government, the supply chain and stakeholders. 
 
It is committed equally to the long-term health of the railway as well as the need to see 
improvement in the shorter-term. 
 
It does this by developing strategies for the industry to put into practice and by proposing 
solutions for policy makers to implement. 
 
The RDG works closely with Ministers, officials and wider stakeholders across Great Britain. 
 
Priorities for future infrastructure in Wales 
 
RDG member organisations are submitting evidence to the Committee, and therefore this 
response is focused at the strategic level, principally addressing cross-border issues and the 
opportunities that exist to continue and build on the successful delivery of improved services, 
supporting the Welsh Government in its objective to deliver sustainable economic growth 
and future prosperity. 
 
Effective transport provision delivers benefits to passengers, freight users and to the wider 
economy.  Connecting communities, people and employment opportunities, while providing 
capacity for growth is essential.  Rail is a core component of the transport system, and can 

Pack Page 81



 Page 3 

continue to contribute to this with integrated planning and partnership between operators, 
Network Rail and the Welsh Government 
 
The rail industry in Control Period 6 (2019-2024) and beyond has significant opportunities to 
contribute to Wales.  These include: 
 

 Benefits to connectivity and journey times as High Speed 2 is constructed and 
integrated with the wider network in Wales 

 Electrification of the South Wales Main Line and Cardiff Valleys Line 

 The opportunities for improved services delivered through new train control 
technology and increased physical capacity to run trains 
 

Many of these major opportunities can be supported and delivered by planning the 
specification and provision of passenger and freight services efficiently, aligning 
improvements to passenger and freight services with the completion of both major and 
smaller-scale enhancements and improvements, and integrating with wider strategy and 
policy to maximise the financial and economic benefits secured. 
 
The current planning environment 
 
The industry is already working closely with Ministers and officials to develop plans that 
support future growth and improvements to the rail network  The Wales Rail Industry Leaders 
Group provides a forum to discuss and progress strategic and policy issues, and there is 
regular discussion and engagement through both the industry’s Long Term Planning Process 
(LTPP) and the development of the policy framework that will lead to the anticipated 
production of the England and Wales High Level Output Specification (HLOS) in July 2017.   
 
The RDG, both as an organisation and through its members, will work to continue this 
engagement and develop visible and transparent strategic platforms that support Welsh 
priorities. 
 
At present, there are a number of strategic reviews of the industry in process – including the 
Bowe Review of CP5 processes, the Hendy Review of Network Rail’s Delivery Plan, the Shaw 
Review addressing industry structural and funding issues, and the UK Department for 
Transport’s project to ensure that industry regulation is effective.  These have the potential 
to change and improve current structures and relationships.   
 
The fundamental challenges and opportunities for the network will continue, and it is 
important that focus and momentum is not lost. 
 
Devolution 
 
While the Railways Act 2005 devolved full funding and specification responsibilities for the 
network in Scotland to Scottish Ministers, this is not the current status of the railway in Wales.  
Full responsibility for the management and re-letting of the Wales and Borders franchise is 
proposed to be transferred to the Welsh Government before the current franchise expires. 
 

Pack Page 82



 Page 4 

The establishment of the Welsh Route by Network Rail has provided a strategic focus. The St 
David’s Day agreement also accepted the Silk Commission’s recommendations to give the 
Welsh Government a greater role in the consultation process for appointing a new franchise 
operator for long-distance cross-border rail franchises. 
 
Devolution of specification and funding can provide more flexibility and responsiveness for 
users and funders.  Long-distance passenger and freight services are provided to meet user 
demand, and cross both administrative and railway boundaries.  In order for rail services to 
provide the greatest benefit, this needs to be factored into decisions on devolution going 
forward.  Train operators and users are focused on the delivery of efficient, value-for-money 
services that meet their needs. 
 
In its response to the Shaw Review, the RDG has set out its views on how the industry builds 
on and develops its structures, roles and responsibilities.  Supporting devolved 
administrations and stakeholders is central to the RDG’s approach to delivering outcomes 
that reflect both transport priorities and wider objectives.   
 
There is clear potential for further devolution of both strategy and funding to the Welsh 
Government, and, if this is managed with a clear focus on outcomes, the RDG considers that 
this could deliver benefits.   
 
Supporting future growth 
 
With nearly 50% passenger growth over the last decade, which continues, and improving 
levels of punctuality for the Wales and Borders franchise – 0.8% higher at 92.6% PPM1 in Q2 
2015/16, there is a sound basis upon which to take the network forward.  The RDG’s view is 
that this has been facilitated through a multi-annual financial settlement for Network Rail and 
the certainty and clarity provided by consistent and transparent specification of franchised 
passenger services. 
 
Any changes should recognise that investment and improvements to the network are 
facilitated through long-term funding, given the lifespan of railway assets, both infrastructure 
and rolling stock, and the need to ensure that benefits are secured.  Provision of long-term 
capacity, for example through providing routes suitable for larger and heavier freight vehicles, 
needs to be considered holistically and to ensure that opportunities across the network are 
taken in the context of a long-term vision. 
 
Devolution of funding, as distinct from devolution of management and specification, has 
significant financial implications, and the industry would anticipate that the Welsh 
Government would be clear as to the apportionment of risks and opportunities before 
progressing this. 
 
The RDG recognises the scale of the Welsh Government’s ambition for rail as part of an 
integrated transport and economic policy.  The proposals for Cardiff Metro, which would 
transform the provision of public transport in South Wales, will require major changes to both 
                                                           
1 The Public Performance Measure records the number of trains that arrive at their final destination up to 10 
minutes late (5 minutes on Cardiff Valley routes and North Wales local services) 

Pack Page 83



 Page 5 

infrastructure and service provision, and we would anticipate working closely with the 
Government and wider stakeholders to drive efficiency and bring the experience of best 
practice elsewhere in the network to support the delivery of this and other key projects. 
 
Relationship between the GB and Welsh networks 
 
Transport systems are provided to meet demand from users.  It is important to recognise both 
the contribution that rail services make to domestic Welsh travel and the connectivity that is 
provided to England for both passengers and freight. 
 
The establishment of the Wales Route within Network Rail provides a clear focus on meeting 
the needs of Welsh stakeholders, while recognising that the rail infrastructure is integrated 
with the wider British network and can be planned to take advantage of strategic initiatives 
and to align with the requirements of passengers, freight users and operators going forward.  
 
The rail network in Wales reflects both the economic and physical geography of the country.  
The importance of the Marches Line to North-South connectivity and integrating North, South 
and Mid-Wales is central to national cohesion.  The South Wales Main Line, the Cambrian Line 
and the North Wales Coast Main Line are key links for both domestic travel and to connect 
Welsh communities and businesses to wider markets and destinations. 
 
Strategies for planning and developing the Welsh rail network are already aligned with the 
wider GB system.  The LTPP reflects this through both GB-wide Market Studies and the 
alignment of the Welsh Route Study (currently in draft) with the Western, West Midlands and 
Chiltern and North of England Studies, as well as the West Coast Strategic Study and the 
Capacity Plus study looking at how to deliver maximum benefits between the completion of 
Phase 1 and Phase 2 of HS2. 
 
Ensuring that planning recognises the interdependencies between domestic and cross-border 
rail services can assist in developing positive business cases for improvements to the network.  
The synergy between Welsh and GB priorities on the North Wales Coast Main Line, for 
example, is clear, as the opportunities around electrification, journey time improvements and 
more frequent services can be aligned with HS2’s emerging Crewe Hub and the Northern 
Powerhouse to maximise the benefits along this key corridor, which is also part of the Trans-
European Networks (TENS) for connectivity to Éire.  
 
As the industry engages with the UK government, devolved nations and English regional 
authorities going forward, it is well placed to support and engage with the Welsh Government 
to provide visibility of the network strategic issues, as well as identifying opportunities and 
synergies.  The RDG strongly supports this partnership working. 
 
With major projects being delivered across the network, and with government’s continued 
commitment to further development of the rail system, this needs to be integrated with and 
support the continued growth and development of the rail supply industry in Wales and 
across the UK, so that it can provide sustainable, efficient service to the industry.  Providing 
clarity in a long-term framework across the network is important to ensuring that the whole 
industry can identify the most effective way of delivering strategic outcomes. 

Pack Page 84



 Page 6 

 
Planning beyond 2019 
 
Current institutional structures require the UK Secretary of State for Transport to specify 
network outputs and funding for rail infrastructure in both England and Wales.   
 
The industry’s strategic planning for Wales has been developed with input and support from 
both the Welsh Government and the Department for Transport.  What is clear from this 
process is that collaboration and transparency are essential to effective delivery going 
forward.  Priorities for the next regulatory control period (2019-2024) are already emerging, 
which provides clarity as to what funders will require from the industry.  
 
The recent recommendations from the Bowe Review supported more bespoke specification 
and management of major projects going forward.  This certainty is important for the industry 
in its development of strategies and plans, and will also assist in setting the right level of 
specification for the next Wales and Borders franchise. 
 
The RDG welcomes close collaboration between the Welsh and UK governments to develop 
strategic priorities and outputs for the rail network, and will provide active support in advising 
on the opportunities and challenges around any further institutional changes. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The Welsh network has seen significant growth and ongoing investment.  It must be seen as 
part of a wider British system that delivers benefits in cross-border connectivity.  There is 
already a strong framework in place to support and deliver Welsh Government priorities – 
and the challenge for the industry and government is to build on this through any changes to 
either government or rail industry structures, while putting the needs of passengers, freight 
users and taxpayers at the centre of both planning and decision-making. 
 
 

For enquiries regarding this consultation response, please contact:  
 
Jonathan Pugh 
Manager, Strategic Planning and Franchising 
Jonathan.Pugh@raildeliverygroup.com 020 7841 8063 
 
 
Rail Delivery Group  
2nd Floor, 200 Aldersgate Street 
London  EC1A 4HD  

Pack Page 85

mailto:Jonathan.Pugh@raildeliverygroup.com


RFG Members Survey 2015: 
The Results

An email survey of RFG members’ opinions was undertaken 
during October 2015.

KEY RESULTS SHOW:

 Concern about possible regionalisation of rail infrastructure (72% of 
respondents believe it would not be beneficial)

 Strong support for equal recognition of freight and passenger 
services (70% named this as one of the two top requirements for 
success)

 A competitive choice of rail freight operators was the second main 
requirement (selected by 52% of respondents)

 Members believe that the main reason customers choose rail over 
road is cost-effectiveness (73%), with 61% citing environmental 
considerations

 Lack of suitable terminals and available train paths are cited as the 
biggest barriers (47% and 58% respectively)

 So, unsurprisingly, government investment in infrastructure (50%) 
and the availability of more rail-linked facilities (45%) were chosen 
as the top two ways to overcome these barriers.   

The full results are below.

Pack Page 86

Agenda Item 3.1



If you were asked ‘what are the main reasons companies choose rail freight 
over road?’, what would you say? (select maximum of two) 

Additional comments:
Respondents pointed out that rail suited the movement of bulk loads better than road did, although 
one respondent saw this aspect as important for intermodal traffic as well. It has “the ability to 
move large parcels of cargo on a scheduled basis to support greater volumes through ports/inland 
terminals more reliably than relying on road transport only. Operates best in a system 
environment.”

Another respondent stated that many companies have an “innate sympathy for rail” and will use it 
because it is “the right thing to do” but added that “unless it improves its flexibility, reliability and 
cost efficiency, it will not attract large volumes from new customers.” 

Pack Page 87



What do you see as the biggest barriers to the growth of the rail freight 
sector? (select maximum of two)

Additional comments:
Limited capacity on an already congested network is seen as a major barrier to growth. For some, 
this is compounded by the cost of developing new terminals/sidings or adding signalling/points to 
access existing sidings. Others cited the difficulty in dealing with the number of different parties 
needed to make a rail movement, compared with “a single point of contact as in road haulage”.

Pack Page 88



What most needs to be done to overcome these challenges? (select maximum of 
two)

Additional comments:
Greater government investment in infrastructure is only part of what the respondents asked from 
politicians. They also wanted government to have “a greater understanding of rail’s role within 
economic strategy”, the implementation of the digital railway asap, more long-term certainty on 
funding and “not so much increased investment – though that would be nice -  but delivering what 
has been promised.” Harmonisation of regulations across the EU was also called for. 

Pack Page 89



Which aspects of the rail industry structure are most important for its 
success? (select  maximum of two)

Additional comments:
It was clear that respondents felt that freight services must be given equal priority with passenger 
services, especially during times of infrastructure maintenance or upgrade. A competitive choice of 
freight operating companies was also important which hopefully will help drive a “creative and 
innovative approach by rail freight operators to deliver resource-efficient, low cost solutions to 
customers”.  

Pack Page 90



Would separating Network Rail into regional companies be beneficial for the 
rail freight sector?

Additional comments:
The clear majority said the establishing of regional companies would not be beneficial, with one 
explaining: “I see the regional structure a bit like local councils in that some will be under- and some 
over-funded depending on local needs and not national interest.” Another said: “If a freight train is 
traversing different regional boundaries it could lead to problems on how that train is managed / 
performs under different controlling areas.”

Others said there could be some benefits from a shake-up of Network Rail but all had strong caveats 
about the need for a strong central control to ensure cross-regional traffics are treated equally. “The 
central role in terms of timetabling, scheduling, pathing and managing freight operations is critical 
going forward in the event that the railway is separated into some form of vertically integrated 
regional businesses which have their own very regional priorities.”

Another said: “It depends on whether those regional companies are held to the appropriate level of 
accountability for rail freight by a regulator or overseer. If they are and the local and regional 
councils demand higher attention to be paid to freight then it could be very beneficial.”

RFG members responding to the survey included suppliers (30%), FOCs (11%) customers (14%), 
port/terminal operators (16%) and consultancies (15%).

The winner from those who entered the draw for the champagne was: Simon Hannak of Tarmac

Pack Page 91



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 92

Agenda Item 5


	Agenda
	 Summary of the evidence on the Inquiry into the Priorities for the Future of Welsh Rail Infrastructure - Megan Jones
	2 Inquiry into the priorities for Welsh Rail Infrastructure
	2.1 Inquiry into the Priorities for the Future of Welsh Rail Infrastructure - Evidence from Transport Scotland
	2.2 Inquiry into the Priorities for the Future of Welsh Rail Infrastructure - Evidence from Network Rail
	2.3 Inquiry into the Priorities for the Future of Welsh Rail Infrastructure - Rail regulation and planning bodies
	EBC(4)-05-16 (p.4) Evidence from the Rail Delivery Group

	3.1 Rail Freight Group Survey Results 2015
	5 Discussion of the priorities for successor Committee

